FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
10/27/2021 2:57 PM
No. 54514-4-II

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/2/2021
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

100348-0

**PHILIP EDWARD SIFFERMAN; BRUCE PENOSKE and RAELYN
PENOSKE, husband and wife; STEVEN R. RAMELS and
JACQUELINE J. RAMELS, husband and wife; MICHAEL F. LASS
and DIANE E. LASS, husband and wife; THOMAS H. JANSEN and
SHARON L. JANSEN, husband and wife, and PATRICK W.
FRENCH; and PARADISE LAKE HOUSE LLC,**

Petitioners,

v.

**CHELAN COUNTY and its TREASURER DAVID GRIFFITHS;
STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE,**

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners are taxpayers who were required to pay Real Estate Excise Tax (REET) when assigning leasehold interests on land at Wapato Point, Chelan County, held in trust by the Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA).

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals, Division II, case Number 54514-4-II issued a published opinion on September 28, 2021. 2021 WL 4436230. Appendix 1.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A. Is imposition of a REET on Assignment of Sublease transactions on Wapato Point Indian land unlawful under federal law?

B. Is a declaratory judgment proceeding challenging the unlawful imposition of REET applicable here?

C. If imposition of a REET on Assignment of Sublease transaction on Indian land is deemed lawful under federal law, shouldn't REET be limited to Department of Revenue (DOR) written policy?

D. Should the DOR and Chelan County be prohibited from imposing REET on Assignment of Sublease transactions on Wapato Point Indian land?

E. Should Petitioner taxpayers receive a refund of REET paid?

F. Should class action status be available for taxpayers similarly situated to petitioning taxpayers?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The real property known as Wapato Point on Lake Chelan in Chelan County, Washington is land held in trust by the United States of America on behalf of a Native American family. The land is leased from the United States of America, and administered by the Department of the Interior, Bureau of Indian Affairs (CP 192).

The leased land is a portion of the original Indian trust allotment, Moses Agreement No. 10. (CP 253). It is subject to the lease restrictions found in the Indian Reorganization Act of 1934 (25 U.S.C. § 461 et seq.) (IRA) and the amendments thereto relative to Business Leases on restricted Indian lands which by reference are made a part of the Lease. (CP 210). Washington law defines "Indian country" to include all "Indian allotments". WAC 458-20-192(2)(b)(iii).

The subject Lease and its Amendments are recorded in Chelan County. (CP 205, 324). It is required that Lessee "conform to the regulations of said Bureau of Indian Affairs . . . ". (CP 218 - 219).

Article 12 of the Lease provides that building and structures erected on the demised premises "shall be deemed to be attached to the freehold and become the property of Lessor . . . and at the end or termination of the term

shall be surrendered to the Lessor . . .". (CP 227 - 228). The taxpayers do not "own" the improvements situated on the Indian land by the express terms of the Lease.

There are no taxes paid to the taxing districts within Chelan County. The improvements constructed on the land and the Lease are all exempt from real and personal property ad valorem taxes and from the state leasehold excise tax. (CP 192 - 199).

A voluntary contribution in lieu of taxes is made to Chelan County because the Wapato Point property receives services from Chelan County. The Agreement for Voluntary Contribution in Lieu of Taxes. (CP 194 - 199) is an agreement between Wapato Point Resources and Chelan County. It provides that Wapato Point Resources agrees to pay the County an amount in lieu of taxes on an annual basis "because of the exemption of the leasehold interest held by the first party from state and local taxation by reason of the leased premises constituting Indian Trust Land . . ." (CP 195)

Taxpayers held their property and improvements thereon pursuant to subleases. A transfer of the property to another is made by an Assignment of Sublease. For example, taxpayer Sifferman assigned his sublease for a total consideration of \$1,022,500.00. The transaction required payment to Wright-Wapato, Inc., a fee of 3.5% of the transaction price totaling \$35,638.23. Additionally, Sifferman was required to pay REET in the sum

of \$18,200.50 or 1.78% for a total transfer tax obligation of 5.28% of the transaction price. Sifferman challenged the REET but Chelan County demanded Real Estate Excise Tax be paid on the total consideration for his transaction. (CP 175 - 191).

Each of the petitioner taxpayers was required to pay a REET based on either 100% of the consideration for the transaction (Sifferman, Penoske and Ramels) or 50% of the consideration for the transaction (Lass/Jansen/French and Paradise Lake House) based upon the Real Estate Excise Tax Affidavits for each transaction. (CP 279 - 284).

The Chelan County Treasurer acknowledges that 50% of the total amount paid has been charged as REET on certain assignments of subleases and sale of improvements. (CP 84 - 87).

The foregoing facts are undisputed. The varying REETs charged taxpayers illustrate the conflicting nature of Chelan County's application of REET to Assignment of Sublease transactions on Wapato Point.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Reasons Why Review Should Be Accepted.

The Court of Appeals ruled that the REET imposed on the transactions involved in this case is not preempted by federal law. The court reasoned that because the allotted land was acquired prior to the enactment of the IRA, 25 U.S.C. § 5108 does not apply to this case. That holding is

error and in direct conflict with the plain language of the IRA and its history pertaining to allotted lands. As a case of first impression in Washington state courts, the Court of Appeals holding conflicts with a decision of the United States District Court, Eastern District of Washington, and a United States Supreme Court decision involving REET and the Yakima Indian Nation.

Additionally, a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington is presented where taxpayers were denied due process rights when they were required to pay REET preempted by Federal law as a condition to recording the real estate transactions. This requirement conflicts with the Washington case, *Baldwin v. Moore*, 7 Wash. 173, 34 P. 461 (1893).

Finally, this case presents an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. Application of REET to property transactions on Wapato Point vary from 50% to 100% of transaction consideration. Even if preemption does not apply, clarification of the correct formula for REET must be established.

B. Federal Preemption Applies.

The REET imposed on the transactions involved in this case are expressly preempted by federal law. The Court of Appeals erroneously ruled that because the allotted land was acquired prior to the Indian

Reorganization Act (IRA), 25 U.S.C. § 5108 does not apply to this case.

The language of the IRA supports application of the IRA to the allotments, including the Wapato Point Moses Allotment 10. Specifically, 25 U.S.C. § 5108 provides in part:

The Secretary of the Interior is authorized, in his discretion, to acquire, through purchase, relinquishment, gift, exchange, or assignment, any interest in lands, water rights, or surface rights to lands, within or without existing reservations, including trust or otherwise restricted allotments . . .

Additionally, 25 U.S.C. § 5102 provides: “The existing periods of trust placed upon any Indian lands and any restriction on alienation thereof are extended and continued until otherwise directed by Congress.”

25 U.S.C. § 415 authorizes leasing of restricted Indian lands, and specifically references Moses Allotment 10. It is undisputed that Moses Allotment 10 is the Wapato Point property. The statute reads in part as follows:

Any restricted Indian lands, whether tribally, or individually owned, may be leased by the Indian owners, with the approval of the Secretary of the Interior, for public, religious, educational, recreational, residential, or business purposes . . . All leases so granted shall be for a term of not to exceed twenty-five years, except . . . leases of land comprising the Moses Allotment Numbered 8 and the Moses Allotment Numbered 10, Chelan County, Washington . . . which may be for a term of not to exceed ninety-nine years.¹

¹ Note the statute applies to "Any restricted Indian lands, whether tribally or individually owned . . ." Similarly, § 5108 applies to land "held in trust for the Indian tribe or individual Indian."

25 U.S.C. § 5108 applies because Moses Allotment 10 trust lands are specifically included in the Indian Reorganization Act by means of § 415 and § 5102. Careful reading of § 5108 further confirms its applicability to the leases at issue. That section provides:

Title to any lands or *rights acquired pursuant to this Act* or the Act of July 28, 1955 (69 Stat. 392), as amended (25 U.S.C. 608 et seq.) shall be taken in the name of the United States in trust for the Indian tribe or individual Indian for which the land is acquired, and *such lands or rights shall be exempt from State and local taxation.* (emphasis added).

The "Act" clearly refers to the Indian Reorganization Act, Title 25. The lease rights held by the Wapato family were "rights" acquired pursuant to the Act. While the allotment was acquired in 1884 by the Wapato family, the right to lease the allotment property was specifically accorded by § 415. It is ludicrous to suggest that leasing rights contained in the IRA apply to the Wapato Point Allotment but not the exemption from State and local taxation in § 5108. Both sections are part of the IRA. The logical conclusion from the Court of Appeals opinion is that no tax exemption exists for Moses Allotment 10 because it was allotted prior to enactment of the IRA. Yet the Wapato Point Allotment remains exempt from property and other taxes.

The history of the Moses Allotments also illustrates application of the IRA and its amendments to the allotments. The case of *Grondal v. Mill*

Bay Members Association, Inc., 471 F.Supp.3d 1095 (USDC, E.D. WA, 2020) is instructive. In that case, the issue was whether the Moses Allotment land in Chelan County was no longer BIA Trust Land by virtue of the IRA of 1934 and amendments thereto. The court determined that Congress clearly intended to preserve the trust status of any reservation, including reservation allotments like the Moses Allotments.

The BIA administered the Moses Allotments, which it expressly considered to be “reservation” land from the Colville Reservation. In 1906 Congress provided for the issuance of trust patents to allottees to receive allotments, as contemplated by the Moses Agreement. Allotments were to be held in trust for ten years but subsequent presidential executive orders extended the trust period of the allotments. *Grondal*, at 1114-1116.

In 1934, Congress ended the nation’s allotment policy through the IRA. The IRA “prohibited any further allotment of tribal land, provided that allotments then held in trust would continue in trust until Congress provided otherwise, and authorized the Secretary of the Interior to take lands into trusts for tribes and tribal members.” Accordingly, the trust period on the Indian lands covered by the IRA was extended indefinitely. In 1990, Congress enacted legislation that comprehensively extended the trust period indefinitely for “all lands held in trust by the United States for Indians.” 25 U.S.C. § 5126. *Grondal, supra* at p. 1116.

It is undisputed that Moses Allotment 10, the Wapato Point property was allotted in 1884, prior to the IRA of 1934. The General Allotment Act of 1887 explicitly authorized only “taxation of . . . land,” not “taxation with respect to land,” “taxation of transactions involving land,” or “taxation based on the value of land.” *County of Yakima v. Confederated Tribes & Bands of the Yakima Indian Nation*, 112 S.Ct. 683, 694 (1992); see also *Squire v. Capoeman*, 76 S.Ct. 611, 616, 100 L.Ed. 883 (1956) providing that until such time as a fee patent is issued, the allotment shall be free from all taxes.

From the foregoing, it is clear Congress intended that the IRA apply to allotments, whether or not the allotments were established prior to the enactment of the IRA in 1934. 25 U.S.C. § 5108 provides that trust lands or rights are exempt from State and local taxation. This is consistent with prior statutes including the General Allotment Act of 1887. To deny applicability of this section to allotments in existence in 1934 would arguably nullify the tax exempt status of allotted lands entirely.

C. Federal Regulations Support Preemption of State and Local Taxation, Including REET.

The Secretary of the Interior approves the leasing of Indian land to third parties including to the Wapato Lease and subleases at issue in this action. 25 U.S.C. § 415. Interior has promulgated a host of regulations

governing the administration of such leases, codified at 25 CFR Part 162. Beginning in 2011, Interior overhauled such regulations through notice and comment rule-making; the new rules became effective January 4, 2013.

Among the 2013 regulations is 25 CFR § 162.017 entitled, “What taxes apply to leases approved under this part?” Pertinent subsections of this regulation are as follows:

(a) Subject only to applicable Federal law, permanent improvements on the leased land, without regard to ownership of those improvements, are not subject to any fee, tax, assessment, levy, or other charge imposed by any State or political subdivision of a State. Improvements may be subject to taxation by the Indian tribe with jurisdiction.

...

(c) Subject only to applicable Federal law, the leasehold or possessory interest is not subject to any fee, tax, assessment, levy, or other charge imposed by any State or political subdivision of a State. Leasehold or possessory interests may be subject to taxation by the Indian tribe with jurisdiction.

The Preamble to 25 CFR § 162.017 published in the Federal Register states that "(t)his section now addresses not only taxation of improvements on leased Indian land, but also taxation of the leasehold or possessory interest, and taxation of activity (e.g., excise or severance taxes) occurring or services performed on leased Indian land. 77 Fed. Reg. 72440-01 (Dec. 5, 2012). The Preamble specifically mentions excise taxes.

Pursuant to the foregoing federal regulation and case law, the

petitioner taxpayers' Assignment of Sublease transactions should not have been subject to *any* Washington State real estate excise tax. Each transaction was subjected to "taxation" by the Indian family (3.5%), which was assessed and paid. (CP 176, 187, 284). IRA § 415 of the IRA is the statutory authority for these Regulations. 25 U.S.C. § 415 specifically references Moses Allotment 10, the Wapato Point property. Since § 415 applies, these regulations should also be given effect.

D. Preemption of REET Is Supported by Case Law.

25 U.S.C. § 5108 provides that lands or rights held in trust by the United States for the Indian tribe or the individual Indian "shall be exempt from State and local taxation." Courts are bound to invalidate taxes on land and rights in land covered by the statute. The REET is a tax on "rights" in land, not the land itself. Under Washington law, REET "is a tax upon the act or incidence of transfer". *Mahler v. Tremper*, 40 Wash.2d 405, 409, 243 P.2d 627 (1952).

County of Yakima v. Confederated Tribes & Bands of the Yakima Indian Nation, 112 S.Ct. 683, 502 U.S. 251, 116 L.Ed.2d 687 (1992) is directly on point and supports preemption of REET. It is the only case cited in this action dealing with the validity of excise tax on a sale of Indian land. The United States Supreme Court held that the excise tax on the sale of land was a tax upon the Indian's activity of selling the land and thus void. The

court stated at page 694:

The short of the matter is that the General Allotment Act explicitly authorizes only 'taxation of . . . land', not 'taxation with respect to land,' 'taxation of transactions involving land,' or 'taxation based on the value of land.' Because it is eminently reasonable to interpret that language as not including a tax upon the sale of real estate, our cases require us to apply that interpretation for the benefit of the Tribe. Accordingly, Yakima County's excise tax on sales of land cannot be sustained. *County of Yakima, Supra* at page 694.

Mescalero Apache Tribes v. Jones, 411 U.S. 145 (1973) and *Confederated Tribes of the Chehalis Reservation v. Thurston County Board of Equalization*, 724 F.3d 1153 (9th Cir. 2013) offer support to taxpayers' position on federal preemption. In *Mescalero*, the Supreme Court construed § 465 (now § 5108) to mean that permanent improvements on land held in trust by the United States could not be taxed. *Mescalero, supra* at page 158. In *Confederated Tribes of the Chehalis Reservation*, the Ninth Circuit specified that under *Mescalero* and § 465 (now § 5108), State and local governments did not have the power to tax permanent improvements built on land held in trust for Indians, regardless of ownership. *Confederated Tribes of the Chehalis Reservation, supra* at page 1154.

The Court of Appeals opinion emphasizes the transactions at issue involve non-Indians. The 'non-Indians' issue was addressed and disposed of in the *Confederated Tribes of the Chehalis Reservation* case at page 1157 where the court held that "this distinction is irrelevant". Thurston County

had attempted to distinguish *Mescalero* on the ground that the improvements at issue were owned by a third party, not the tribe itself. The tribe entered into a lease agreement with a non-Indian entity for a hotel, indoor water park, and convention center. Here, the Wapato family entered into a lease (CP 205-265) with a non-Indian developer of Wapato Point. Taxpayers are sublessees subject to the terms of the lease (CP 234).

The opinion of the Court of Appeals conflicts with the Supreme Court decision in *County of Yakima, supra*, and the *County of Yakima* Ninth Circuit decision at 903 F.2d 1207 (1990). The *Yakima* cases are the only cases cited in this action dealing with the validity of excise tax on a sale of Indian allotted land. It is undisputed that RCW 82.45.010(1) identifies “sale” to include transfer of improvements constructed upon leased land².

E. Declaratory Judgment Proceedings May Determine the Validity of the REET as Applied.

The Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act codified at RCW Ch.7.24 is remedial and its purpose is to settle and to afford relief from uncertainty and insecurity with respect to rights, status, and other legal relations. It is to be liberally construed and administered. See RCW 7.24.120.

RCW 7.24.020 provides that a person whose rights are affected by

² The Court of Appeals further erred in applying the preemption balancing test announced in *White Mountain Apache Tribe v. Bracker*, 448 U.S. 136, 142, 100 S.Ct. 2578 (1980). If the REET is expressly preempted under § 5108, there is no need to consider *Bracker* or any other theory of preemption. *Chehalis, supra*, at 1159.

a statute may have determined “any question of the construction or validity” of the statute.

Declaratory judgment proceedings may be used to determine the validity of a tax assessment. See *Boeing Aircraft Co. v. Reconstruction Finance Corp.*, 25 Wn. 2d 652, 171 P.2d 838 (1946). A declaratory judgment action may be used to restrain enforcement of an unconstitutional statute or a statute not yet operative. See *Johnson v. State*, 187 Wn 605, 60 P.2d 681 (1936) and *Berndson v. Graystone Materials Co.*, 34 Wn. 2d 530, 209 P.2d 326 (1949)³.

The Court of Appeals opinion ignores that *County of Yakima, supra* was a declaratory judgment proceeding originating in Federal Court and ultimately concluded by the U.S. Supreme Court decision declaring invalid the real estate excise taxes sought to be imposed by Yakima County.

The Court of Appeals in the present action erred in ruling that the Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act did not apply to the taxpayers’ claims. The Court of Appeals held that declaratory judgments are proper to determine the facial validity of an enactment, not its application or administration. However, as in the *Yakima* cases, *supra* and *Boeing, supra*,

³ CR 57 applies to declaratory judgments and provides that the existence of another adequate remedy does *not* preclude a declaratory judgment. For taxpayers and other similarly situated sublessees of Wapato Point Indian land, prospective declaratory relief against Chelan County is appropriate.

and many others, declaratory judgment actions may determine the validity of a tax as applied under given circumstances.

Taxpayers challenge the validity of the REET as applied. In *City of Seattle v. Evans*, 184 Wash.2d 856, 862, 366 P.3d 906 (2015) the court stated:

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