FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/29/2021 12:07 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 100348-0

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### PHILIP EDWARD SIFFERMAN; et al.,

Petitioners,

v.

CHELAN COUNTY and its TREASURER DAVID GRIFFITHS; STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE,

Respondents.

## RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. SEALBY Chelan County Prosecuting Attorney

SUSAN E. HINKLE, WSBA #18276 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney PO Box 2596 Wenatchee WA 98807 (509) 667-6202 ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

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

Nor can Sellers fault the Court of Appeals for disregarding a 1994 Department of Revenue letter to claim a 50 percent refund, when the letter involved time-share condominiums, and not private residences such as those sold by Sellers. Moreover, Sellers never mentioned or relied on the Department's letter in their summary judgment briefs. The Court of Appeals thus understandably concluded that the trial court did not err in denying refunds to Sellers based on an inapplicable letter which they did not mention. That unremarkable conclusion is not a matter of substantial public interest.

Fifth, Sellers' due process claim does not present a significant constitutional issue. Unlike the Court of Appeals, Sellers simply ignore this Court's case law holding that in a dispute under RCW 82.32 the opportunity for a hearing may be postponed until after the taxpayer pays the disputed taxes.

Finally, the Court of Appeals did not err in declining to reverse the trial court's dismissal of Sellers' class action claims. Among other reasons, the court correctly explained why RCW 82.32.180, as this Court has held, precludes class action claims.

This Court should deny discretionary review.

#### **II. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

1. 25 U.S.C. § 5108 preempts state and local taxes imposed on land and certain rights in property that were acquired and placed into trust no earlier than 1934. Is § 5108 inapplicable when the land at issue here was placed into trust around 1884 and leasing authority is not covered by the statute?

2. Is 25 C.F.R. § 162.017 an interpretative regulation without independent force to preempt any state tax?

3. 25 U.S.C. § 5108 preempts only direct taxes on land. If § 1508 applies, is the REET permissible as a transactional tax on the sale of real property improvements?

4. The Legislature has provided an exclusive
statutory remedy for taxpayers seeking refunds through
RCW 82.32.180, which does not authorize declaratory relief
under the UDJA. Is Sellers' claim under the UDJA contrary to
RCW 82.32.180?

5. Although they bore the burden of proof, Sellers chose to present no evidence of the values of their private

5

residences in support of their refund claims. Did Sellers fail to prove their claims?

This Court has held the procedures in RCW 82.32
 satisfy due process. Did Sellers' refund action under
 RCW 82.32.180 provide them due process?

7. This Court has held that class action claims are not permitted in excise tax refund actions under RCW 82.32.180. In this action under RCW 82.32.180, are Sellers precluded from pursuing class action refunds?

#### **III. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The improvements at issue are private residences at Wapato Point, a resort in Chelan County with private residence homes, full-share condominiums, and timeshare condominiums. *See* CP 125-26. The private residences are constructed upon trust land allotted to the Wapatos, a Native family. CP 3 (¶ 4.1). The allotted land is a "portion of the original Indian trust allotment, Moses Agreement No. 10 (Que-til-qua-soon, or Peter Wapato)... in Chelan County[.]" CP 253. Each Seller held portions of the land pursuant to subleases and assignments of sublease rights. CP 4 (¶ 4.2). No Seller is a member of the Wapato family or a member of a Tribe. *See* CP 94, 134, 139-40. And no Tribe was involved in the transactions at issue or participated in this litigation.

Petitioners Philip Edward Sifferman, Bruce and Raelyn Penoske, and Steven and Jacqueline Ramels, entered into transactions in which they assigned their sublease of the real property and sold the private residence constructed thereon. CP 4-5 (¶¶ 4.4, 4.6, 4.8). Each filed a REET Affidavit reporting the "Gross Selling Price" as the "Taxable Selling Price." CP 102-04. The Chelan County Treasurer collected REET based on Taxable Selling Prices they reported. *See id*.

Petitioners Michael and Diane Lass, Thomas and Sharon Jansen, and Patrick French (the Lass owners) likewise entered into a transaction in which they assigned their sublease of the real property and sold the private residence constructed thereon. CP 5 (¶¶ 4.10, 4.12). On their REET affidavit, the Lass owners reported a "Gross Selling Price" of \$624,500.00 and a "Taxable Selling Price" of \$312,250.00, claiming a 50 percent exemption of \$312,250.00. CP 105-06. The Treasurer collected REET based on the Taxable Selling Price they reported. *See id*.

Petitioner Paradise Lake House LLC, a Washington limited liability company, entered into a transaction in which it assigned its sublease of the real property and sold the private residence constructed thereon. CP 5 (¶ 4.12). On its REET Affidavit, Paradise Lake House reported a "Gross Selling Price" and "Taxable Selling Price" of \$514,500.00. CP 107. The Treasurer collected REET based on the Taxable Selling Price it reported. *See id*.

Sellers or their agents provided the information on the REET Affidavits. Chelan County does not fill in the information on REET affidavit forms, or dictate how they should be filled out. CP 84-85 (¶¶ 3-4).

Sellers filed an action seeking refunds of the REET they paid, declaratory relief under the UDJA, and refunds on behalf of an alleged class of unnamed, similarly-situated taxpayers. CP 1-11. Respondents successfully moved to dismiss the class action refund claims. CP 66-68.

The trial court later granted summary judgment to Respondents, denied summary judgment to Sellers, and dismissed Sellers' action with prejudice. CP 371-73. Sellers appealed and the Court of Appeals affirmed. *Sifferman v. Chelan Cnty.*, \_\_\_\_ Wn. App. 2d \_\_\_\_, 496 P.3d 329 (2021).

#### IV. REASONS THE COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

### A. Sellers' Express Federal Preemption Claim Is Without Merit

States may impose taxes on non-Indians engaging in taxable activity on trust land unless federal law expressly or impliedly preempts the tax. *Cotton Petroleum Corp. v. New Mexico*, 490 U.S. 163, 173, 109 S. Ct. 1698, 104 L. Ed. 2d 209 (1989). Sellers claim express preemption, primarily relying on

25 U.S.C. § 5108. Pet. Rev. at 5-9.<sup>1</sup>

The Court of Appeals committed no error in rejecting

Sellers' claim of express preemption under 25 U.S.C. § 5108.

Section 5108 applies only to lands or rights *acquired* under the

Indian Reorganization Act (IRA) of 1934 and a later act:

Title to any lands or rights *acquired* pursuant to this Act [*i.e.*, the IRA] or the Act of July 28, 1955 (69 Stat. 392), as amended (25 U.S.C. 608 et seq.) shall be taken in the name of the United States in trust for the Indian tribe or individual Indian for which the land is acquired, *and such lands or rights* shall be exempt from State and local taxation.

(Emphasis added). Here, as Sellers concede, the Wapato Point

land was acquired well before the IRA of 1934. See Pet. Rev. at

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Sellers also rely on 25 U.S.C. § 5102, which extended existing periods of trust placed upon Native lands, to support their express preemption claim. Pet. Rev. at 6. Prior to their review petition, however, Sellers never mentioned, raised, or made any argument based on § 5102. Therefore, the Court of Appeals did not address it. Moreover, § 5102 is completely silent regarding state taxation. Therefore, it lends no support for express preemption.

9 ("It is undisputed that Moses Allotment 10, the Wapato Point property was allotted in 1884, prior to the IRA of 1934.").<sup>2</sup>

Sellers seek to avoid the express limitation on § 5108's reach by arguing that 25 U.S.C. § 415, which addresses the leasing of restricted Native lands, somehow granted the Wapato family a "right" that was acquired pursuant to the IRA of 1934. Pet. Rev. at 7. Sellers do not explain why the leasing authority granted by § 415 is a "right" based on § 5108's actual language. Rather, they simply claim it would be "ludicrous" to conclude that § 5108 does not apply because both § 415 and § 5108 "are part of the IRA." Pet. Rev. at 7. The Court of Appeals, however, correctly concluded that the leasing authority authorized by § 415 is not a "right" for purposes of § 5108.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Other courts have found § 5108 inapplicable when lessees or non-Indian owners of improvements seeking its benefit failed to prove the land at issue was acquired under the IRA of 1934 or the 1955 Act. *See Herpel v. Cnty. of Riverside*, 45 Cal. App. 5th 96, 118-22, 258 Cal. Rptr. 3d 444 (2020); *Pickerel Lake Outlet Ass 'n v. Day Cnty.*, 953 N.W.2d 82, 89-91 (2020).

First, § 5108 is silent regarding the leasing of allotted lands. *See Sifferman*, 496 P.3d at 342 ("It is significant here that ... § 5108 makes no mention of a right to lease allotted lands, although such leases are also administered by the Secretary. § 415.").

Second, § 5108 authorizes the Interior Secretary to "acquire . . . any interest in lands, water rights, or surface rights to lands . . . for the purpose of providing land for Indians[,]" and further provides that the "rights acquired . . . shall be taken in the name of the United States in trust for the Indian tribe or individual Indian for which the land is acquired[.]" Based on the statute's language, the Court of Appeals concluded:

> [I]n listing water rights, surface rights, and interests in land in § 5108, and subsequently stating that "title to lands or rights acquired under the Act" are exempt from federal and state taxation, Congress indicated that the exemption applied to the rights and interests listed in § 5108 and not to additional, undefined rights.

*Sifferman*, 496 P.3d at 342. Then, after discussing the text of § 415, the Court of Appeals concluded that "§ 5108 does not apply to the allotted lands in this case." *Id*.

This interpretation properly reads § 5108 as a whole and in context. See Stand Up for California! v. U.S. Dep't of Interior, 959 F.3d 1154, 1159 (9th Cir. 2020) ("the words of a statute must be read in their context and with a view to their place in the overall statutory scheme"); *PeaceHealth St. Joseph* Med. Ctr. v. Dep't of Revenue, 196 Wn.2d 1, 8, 468 P.3d 1056 (2020) (legislative intent is derived from "the plain language of the statute, considering the text of the provision, the context of the statute, related provisions, amendments, and the statutory scheme as a whole"). The statute's plain language addresses the acquisition of interests in lands, water rights, and surface rights, and not the granting of leasing authority. Indeed, it would be nonsensical to conclude that the leasing authority granted by § 415 is a "right" coming within § 5108 because leasing authority is not a "right" that can be taken in the name of the

United States and held in trust. The Court of Appeals, therefore, correctly concluded that § 5108 does not expressly preempt the REET as applied to Sellers' sales of improvements constructed upon the Wapato Point land.

To bolster their express preemption claim under § 5108, Sellers rely on 25 C.F.R. § 162.017. Pet. Rev. at 9-11. But as the Court of Appeals noted, *Sifferman*, 496 P.3d at 343 n.8, Sellers misunderstand the nature of that regulation, which "merely clarifies and confirms what § [5108] already conveys." *Confederated Tribes of Chehalis Rsrv. v. Thurston Cnty. Bd. of Equalization*, 724 F.3d 1153, 1157 n.6 (9th Cir. 2013) (internal quotation marks omitted).<sup>3</sup> The Ninth Circuit thus has concluded that § 162.017 "does not of its own force operate to preempt any specific state tax." *Desert Water Agency v. U.S.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Section 5108 was previously codified at 25 U.S.C. § 465. *Chehalis Reservation* and several of the other cases discussed in this answer analyze § 5108 prior to its recodification. This answer uses the current codification of § 5108 throughout.

Dep't of the Interior, 849 F.3d 1250, 1256 (9th Cir. 2017) (footnote omitted).

Because § 162.107 lacks "independent legal effect," *id.* at 1254, it provides no independent basis to conclude that federal law expressly preempts the REET. Thus, whether based on § 5108 or the federal regulation, Sellers' express preemption claim fails as a matter of law.

The well-reasoned analysis of the Court of Appeals does not require further review.

## B. The Court of Appeals' Decision Does Not Conflict With Federal Case Law Construing 25 U.S.C. § 1508

Sellers next assert federal case law interpreting § 5108 (if it applies) supports preemption of the REET. But the cases they rely on are readily distinguishable.

For instance, Sellers imprudently rely on *County of Yakima v. Confederated Tribes & Bands of the Yakima Indian Nation*, 502 U.S. 251, 112 S. Ct. 683, 116 L. Ed. 2d 687 (1992). But it addressed whether Yakima County could impose the REET on *tribal sellers*. The Supreme Court held that "a tax upon the *Indian's* activity of selling the land . . . is void[.]" *County of Yakima*, 502 U.S. at 269 (emphasis added). Here, Sellers are not tribal sellers so *County of Yakima* is inapplicable.

Sellers also attempt to concoct a conflict based on *Mescalero Apache Tribe v. Jones*, 411 U.S. 145, 93 S. Ct. 1267, 36 L. Ed. 2d 114 (1973), and *Chehalis Reservation*. This argument also fails. They claim these cases establish that no state tax of any kind can be applied with respect to permanent improvements constructed on trust land. Pet. Rev. at 12-13. Not so. *Mescalero* and *Chehalis Reservation* found preemption solely with respect to taxes imposed directly on improvements. *See Mescalero*, 411 U.S. at 158 (holding § 5108 preempted a compensating use tax on improvements, because the use was "so intimately connected with use of the land itself"); *Chehalis*  *Reservation*, 724 F.3d at 1159 (holding § 5108 preempted property taxes on improvements).<sup>4</sup>

In contrast, *Mescalero* found § 5108 inapplicable with respect to New Mexico's gross receipts tax applying to a ski resort operated by a tribal business. The Supreme Court noted "[o]n its face, the statute exempts land and rights in land, not income derived from its use." 411 U.S. at 155. It further explained that tax exemptions ordinarily are not implied and off-reservation income is not exempt from tax simply because the land from which it is derived is itself exempt from tax. *Id.* at 156. Consistent with these principles, the Supreme Court has held that "[1]essees of otherwise exempt Indian lands are also subject to state taxation." *Id.* at 157 (citing *Oklahoma Tax* Comm'n v. Texas Co., 336 U.S. 342, 69 S. Ct. 561, 93 L. Ed. 721 (1949)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In *Chehalis Reservation*, the Ninth Circuit declined to follow several circuit cases rejecting express preemption claims based on § 5108 because "[n]one of them involved property taxes[.]" *Id.* at 1159.

Here, the REET is a transactional tax like New Mexico's gross receipts tax. This Court long ago rejected the claim that the REET is a direct property tax. *Mahler v. Tremper*, 40 Wn.2d 405, 409, 243 P.2d 627 (1952). Rather, it "is a tax upon the act or incidence of transfer." *Id.* at 410. As a transactional tax imposed on sales, the REET, like New Mexico's gross receipts tax, is not preempted by § 5108.

Finally, unlike this case involving the taxation of non-Indians, both *Mescalero* and *Chehalis Reservation* involved attempts to tax a Tribe or tribal business. *See Mescalero*, 411 U.S. at 146 (taxation of ski resort operated by the Mescalero Apache Tribe); *Chehalis Reservation*, 724 F.3d at 1154 (taxation of business in which Chehalis Tribe owned an undivided 51 percent interest).

Based on *Chehalis Reservation*, Sellers argue that the distinction between Tribes and non-Indians is "irrelevant." Pet. Rev. at 12. But Sellers disregard that *Chehalis Reservation* involved the taxation of a tribal majority-owned business. For

that reason, the Ninth Circuit repeatedly emphasized that the exemption in § 5108 does not turn on the particular form *in which the Tribe chooses to conduct its business. See Chehalis Reservation*, 724 F.3d at 1156, 1157 (twice). Thus, the taxation of a non-Indian was not at issue in *Chehalis Reservation*. *Mescalero*'s holding that lessees of exempt Indian lands are subject to state taxation, 411 U.S. at 157, also rebuts Sellers' argument.

The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with *County of Yakima, Mescalero*, or *Chehalis Reservation*. Therefore, further review based on an alleged conflict with federal case law is not warranted.<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In the courts below, Sellers unsuccessfully raised an implied preemption claim under *White Mountain Apache Tribe v. Bracker*, 448 U.S. 136, 100 S. Ct. 2578, 65 L. Ed. 2d 665 (1980). Although they argue the Court of Appeals erred in applying the *Bracker* balancing test, Pet. Rev. at 13 n.2, Sellers do not rely on that part of the opinion to support review by this Court.

# C. The Court of Appeals Correctly Declined to Consider Sellers' UDJA Claim

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